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Chairman’s Statement
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Clontarf Energy is an emerging hydrocarbon exploration and production company focused on South 
America and Africa. Clontarf relisted on AIM in early 2011 following a reverse takeover of Persian 
Gold plc, by Hydrocarbon Exploration plc, an unlisted company. It is important to note that the 
accounts below cover the period to end December 2010 for Persian Gold and so do not cover the 
activities of the enlarged group. Of more relevance is the report below and the following review of 
operations which outline the activities of the company. 

The logic in the merger lay in the fact that the companies shared signifi cant interests in an exploration 
venture in Ghana as well as having some common directors and shareholders. This report outlines 
the combined interests and sets out the strategy of the enlarged group for the future.

Prior to discussing corporate activities let me comment on the global oil and gas industry. For the 
foreseeable future oil demand will be dominated by the growth of the so called “BRIC” countries 
particularly China. Latest estimates suggest that the world’s daily oil consumption in 2011 is 
approximately 89 million barrels. Although the estimates for the world’s future oil demand have been 
revised down by institutions such as the International Energy Agency, it is possible that the world 
will be using about 100 million barrels per day in the coming decades. Existing capacity simply does 
not exist to supply this demand. The constraints are not only the crude oil in the ground but also the 
vast fi nancial resources necessary to develop oil fi elds and build refi neries. Moreover, some oil-rich 
countries are not developing their reserves and their governments do not allow foreign investors to 
do so. This situation leads to an even greater need for the international oil industry to search for oil 
in any prospective area where the governments are open to foreign investors and to the application 
of modern technology for oil exploration and development operations.  Oil prices will be volatile 
refl ecting economic circumstances, but in the long run your board believes they will be strong. 
Three consequences fl ow from high oil prices: exploration and development in ever more expensive 
locations, growing interest in alternatives and thirdly substitutions. Peak oil is likely to become an 
historical myth. Offshore West Africa is emerging as a major new oil province. It is likely that the area 
from Angola through to Sierra Leone will be a multi million barrel daily producer within years. Ghana 
has a central role in this development. Clontarf is already at the table in Ghana.

The gas industry has been transformed. Less than 10 years ago natural gas was proclaimed as the 
fuel of the future. Strong prices encouraged exploration. Canada, Bolivia and Russia were seen 
as world leaders. Indeed the oligopolistic position of Russia in supplying gas to Western Europe 
provoked uneasiness in numerous countries. But technology solved this problem. The development 
of shale gas through “fracking” has transformed the critical variables in the industry. As shale gas 
technology evolves costs are falling. In the US where commercial shale gas reserves are now 
estimated at 60 trillion cubic feet (tcf) natural gas prices have fallen refl ecting this new competition. 
Many Gulf of Mexico producers, Clontarf included, have seen their profi ts eroded. LNG import 
projects are no longer viable. In fact the US might become an exporter of LNG. This revolution is just 
beginning. It will spread to Europe, Africa and South America. Problems continue to exist with shale 
gas technology, but as they are eliminated the industry will blossom.
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Clontarf Projects

Clontarf has active projects in Peru, Bolivia and Ghana. The board intends to dispose of its legacy 
projects in Iran and in the US Gulf of Mexico in due course. 

Peru

Clontarf was awarded two onshore exploration blocks in Peru in late 2010. The success of Clontarf 
is due in part to a predecessor company, Pan Andean, which had four blocks in Peru all of which 
were successfully joint-ventured / farmed out to multinationals. The two new blocks 183 and 188 are 
prospective. Block 183, which is almost 400,000 hectares in size, is located in the Marañon basin in 
central Peru. There is production and exploration activity in adjacent blocks and an oil pipeline runs 
close to it. We have acquired 1,700 kms of 2D seismic, which is being re-interpreted. 

Block 188 covers 600,000 hectares in the Ucayali Basin in the south east of Peru. This area has 
numerous producing oil fi elds. Seismic data exists on the block while wells drilled on adjacent blocks 
have fl owed oil and/or gas. 

Perupetro have informed Clontarf that the offi cial signing ceremony should take place prior to a 
change of Government on July 28th. A team is already working on environmental and community 
matters as well as re-interpreting seismic data and well logs. We will look at joint venturing the areas 
in due course. 

Ghana

The Directors believe that Ghana is one of the best oil exploration areas in the world. Fiscal terms are 
competitive, title is good and the geology attractive. Successive discoveries by Kosmos and Tullow, 
when fully developed, will lift Ghana into a top division of world oil producers. Clontarf has been in 
discussion with the Ghanaian authorities for three years. To reach the necessary size to qualify as a 
licence applicant it was necessary to combine three companies’ resources - all London listed, Pan 
Andean, Persian Gold and Petrel. When Pan Andean was acquired by Petrominerales the attraction, 
for Petrominerales, was the Peruvian ground. The Ghanaian licences with other exploration assets 
were left in an unlisted subsidiary which was spun off to shareholders. The creation of Clontarf means 
that the Ghanaian licence application is now held, Clontarf 60%, Petrel 30%, and local interests 10%. 

A licence over the 1,532 sq km Tano 2A onshore/offshore block was signed with the Ghanaian 
National Petroleum Company in 2008 and revised in 2010. All licence approvals must be approved 
by the cabinet and parliament. These approvals are awaited. In the meantime the partners have been 
active in acquiring all available data on the block and concluding extensive and intensive analysis of 
the data. The grid spacing and data quality did not allow specifi c identifi cation of drillable targets, but 
did outline areas of promise particularly in the offshore area of Tano 2A. 

Boliva

The Clontarf assets in Bolivia are owned by its subsidiary Petrolex, a company acquired by a legacy 
company of Clontarf in 2000. They comprise a producing gas fi eld in El Dorado close to the city of 
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Santa Cruz and a small oil and gas producer in Monteagudo in central Bolivia. El Dorado is owned 
10% Clontarf, 90% YPFB/Chaco the Bolivian State company, while Monteagudo is owned 30% 
Clontarf, 30% Repsol, 20% Petrobras and 20% Andina/YPFB.

In recent years there has been signifi cant political uncertainty in Bolivia in relation to natural 
resources. The 2009 constitution claimed total State ownership. Despite this and onerous tax/royalty 
charges, the hydrocarbon industry continues to develop. The reason is simple: Bolivia has a central 
location in the cone of South America. There is rapidly growing demand in Brazil, Chile and Argentina 
– all bordering Bolivia and all being supplied by Bolivia. 

The El Dorado fi eld holds immediate and signifi cant potential. Clontarf’s involvement was complicated 
by disagreements with the previous majority partner. Following departure of that foreign company 
from Bolivia, the Bolivian State re-established its control of Chaco S.A., our operating partner. El 
Dorado was then drilled and brought into production. Accordingly the reason for our dispute was 
eliminated and an accommodation is being negotiated. Clontarf will pay its share in future expenditure 
and share pro rata in the profi ts. Output is now circa 19 million cubic feet of gas per day of which our 
share is 1.9mmcfd. Two additional wells are scheduled for 2011. Unlike in the USA, export gas prices 
are very strong in Bolivia. If all goes to plan Clontarf should enjoy profi ts and cash fl ow within 2 years.

Monteagudo is an old fi eld operating since 1967. Production is declining but there is signifi cant 
potential for gas in the deep Huamapampa formation. Signifi cant gas discoveries in the Huamapampa 
have been made in adjacent block, the most recent being by Total in 2010. The Directors believe that 
there is a deep gas plug at Monteagudo which could contain 2 to 3 tcf of gas. 

There have been diffi culties relating to operating costs within the group that owns Monteagudo. A 
dispute has been ongoing since 2008. This has been exacerbated by uncertainty over title and tax 
rates. Clontarf has made a proposal to buy out the Repsol stake, thereby becoming operator. A low 
cost operation has been proposed which could produce positive cash fl ow from current production 
while preparing to drill the deeper target. Should the proposal be accepted it could be in place by the 
end of 2011.

Other Projects

Clontarf inherited two legacy projects, mineral prospects in Iran and gas production / royalties, 
primarily in the Gulf of Mexico. 

Iran has highly prospective geology and is largely unexplored. Persian Gold Ltd, a wholly owned 
subsidiary of Clontarf, holds options on two mineral ventures, one copper/gold, Dalli; and one gold, 
Chah-e-Zard. From a corporate and legal view operating in Iran has become diffi cult. Despite fulfi lling 
all requirements it proved impossible to get discovery certifi cate and development licences. There 
is growing opposition to investment in Iran and a growing threat of sanction. Banks refuse to move 
funds. The Board is reviewing its options in relation to its Iranian assets. 

The loss of value in the US Gulf of Mexico was sudden and unexpected. A subsidiary of Clontarf, 
Endeavour Oil and Gas Inc, holds royalties on block 52 in the Gulf and a working 62% interest in 
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block 30. Royalties are totally dependent on the price of natural gas. The current low price of less 
than $4.50 per million British Thermal Unit (or per 1,000 cubic feet) has two effects, signifi cantly lower 
income and a reluctance to pump gas and/or explore. Block 30 has also had problems. A work-
over did not produce the expected results. A partnership with Hunt Oil promised much but delivered 
little. Hunt sued Endeavour to recover costs from a well abandonment programme. The Directors 
expect that the case will be settled by ceding Endeavour Oil and Gas Inc to Hunt. This will end our 
participation in US oil and gas. 
The full fi nancial implications of both the Iranian and US decisions have been provided for in the 
accounts. 

Outlook and Strategy

We have a top class team which has delivered value to shareholders. We have excellent early stage 
exploration projects in Peru and, when ratifi ed, in Ghana and we have stakes in producing fi elds in 
Bolivia. We have the funds for our immediate needs. We operate in particularly uncertain areas in 
high risk early stage projects. 

We use our skills, experience and contacts to reduce the risk. The potential return is substantial. We 
think that we can deliver.

Chairman
28 June 2011



Review of Operations

Introduction

Clontarf was formerly known (before March 2011) 
as ‘Persian Gold plc’. It now holds the oil & gas 
assets of Hydrocarbon Exploration plc, which 
included the main operational business of Pan 
Andean Resources plc that was sold in April 2010 
to Petrominerales of Canada.

Persian Gold was incorporated in 2003 originally 
as a gold exploration company focused on 
identifying gold mineralisation in Iran (in particular, 
‘Yanacocha-type’ high sulphidation epithermal 
mineralisation). Persian Gold was listed on AIM 
in 2005. The Group now has interests in three 
countries: Ghana, Peru and Bolivia.

Ghana

Our group of related companies (as the Ghanaian 
company ‘Pan Andean Resources Limited’) 
signed a Memorandum of Understanding with the 
Ghanaian state petroleum company, GNPC, on the 
Tano 2A Block in November 2008, and a Petroleum 
Agreement with GNPC on Tano 2A Block in 
December 2008. The Block is held via a Ghanaian 
private company (called ‘Pan Andean Resources 
Limited’), owned 30% by Petrel, 60% by Clontarf 
and10% by Ghanaian interests.

Block size: c. 1,532 km2 (153,200 hectares)
Basin: Tano
Geological Target: Cretaceous

Fiscal terms are competitive: There is a royalty 
off the top (12.5% for oil and 10% for gas), a 10% 
carried state interest (held by the national oil 
company, the GNPC) and a standard 35% income 
tax on profi ts.

In addition the GNPC can elect to pay their way for 
a further 15%. 

There is also a super-profi ts tax or ‘Additional Oil 
Entitlement (AOE)’ which is payable according to 
the overall Rate of Return. This extra ‘bonanza tax’ 
does not apply for a rate of return under 12.5%.

The Additional Oil Entitlement rises in a step 
function with returns to a maximum of 30% for 
project Rates of Return over 27.5%
There are also the normal, relatively modest land 
rentals plus Training Allowance plus an additional 
‘Technology Support’ one-time payment.

The terms of the renegotiated Tano Agreement 
are summarised as follows:

 • The licence is divided into an initial period of 
  three years (the “Initial Exploration Period”), a 
  fi rst extension period of two years (“First 
  Extension Period”) and a second extension 
  period of one and half years (“Second 
  Extension Period”)
 • Royalties: 12.5% on gross oil production, 10% 
  on gross gas production
 • Carried GNPC Interest: 10% (but the GNPC 
  must opt to pay its way or drop its participation 
  after a declaration of commerciality).  If the 
  GNPC does not pay its prior and ongoing costs, 
  its interest lapses.
 • Income Tax 35%
 • During the Initial Exploration Period, the 
  Contractor must (1) reprocess all existing 2D 
  seismic data covering the licence area; (2) 
  acquire, process and interpret at least 1,000 
  km2 of new 3D seismic data; and (3) drill a 
  minimum of one exploration well
 • Minimum Expenditure during the Initial 
  Exploration Period: a minimum spend of US$25 
  million including one well onshore or US$35 
  million if this were to be an offshore well
 • During the First Extension Period, the 
  Contractor must (1) acquire, process and 
  interpret at least 500 km2 of new 3D seismic 
  data; (2) conduct geological and geophysical 
  studies; and (3) drill a minimum of one 
  exploration well
 • Minimum Expenditure during the First 
  Extension Period: a minimum spend of US$15  
 million including one well onshore or $30 million
   if this were to be an offshore well
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Review of Operations (continued)

 • During the Second Extension Period, the 
  Contractor must (1) conduct further geological 
  and geophysical studies; and (2) drill a 
  minimum of one exploration well
 • Minimum Expenditure during the Second 
  Extension Period: a minimum spend of US$15 
  million including one well onshore or US$30 
  million if this were to be an offshore well
 • Standard Land Rentals (in accordance with 
  modern practice)
 • Normal Technology/Training terms by the 
  standards of prospective, producing areas:
  - Training allowance of US$250,000 paid to the 
   GNPC annually; and
  - One-off Technology support payment of 
   US$500,000 made to the GNPC in the fi rst 
   contract year.
 • No bonds or deposits required

These terms compare favourably with best practice 
elsewhere and are broadly similar in economic 
effect to the terms available in Colombia and Peru. 
The total state take should be roughly half the 
total value created. These fi scal terms are much 
better than those in comparable areas (typically 
60 to 70%) and for established major exporters 
(typically 80% +). There are risks in West Africa but 
contractors are well-remunerated if they discover 
and produce oil.

Extensive data regarding the Tano 2A Block has 
been purchased by the Company from GNPC 
including 42 geological reports and 676km of 
2D seismic data. The Company has identifi ed a 
signifi cant number of leads and prospects from 
an analysis of the data. Interpretation of the 
main seismic surveys is now underway by the 
Company’s technical experts and contractors.

Ghana is attractive for exploration and development 
with excellent agreement terms which do not yet refl ect 
recent exploration success in the region and large 
exploration potential compared with other countries 
with more established hydrocarbon resources.

The Tano Agreement currently in place specifi es 
the requirement to make a US$1 million per annum 
payment in respect of training grants, payment of 
a US$2 million technology grant during the fi rst 
contract year and other commitments including 
minimum on and offshore spending requirements 
(US$25 million and US$35 million respectively in 
the initial three year phase).

The Tano Agreement was renegotiated in March 
2010 and is currently subject to ratifi cation by the 
Ghanaian Parliament and Cabinet. The revised 
agreement seeks to reduce the technology grant 
payment to a once off payment of US$500k, 
reduce the training grant to an annual payment of 
US$250k and amend some other conditions which 
Management considers onerous. Management 
expects to receive approval during 2011. 

Recent Industry Progress in West 
Africa

There are now more than 330 billion barrels of 
oil equivalent of reserves discovered in Africa, of 
which about half is in Sub-Saharan Africa.

There are many hydrocarbon-rich basins in Africa, 
which remains under-explored. New ideas are 
constantly emerging. Discoveries since 2000 in 
four African countries including Angola and Ghana 
exceed the entire Africa Yet-to-Find calculations 
of Peak Oil theorists in 1999. In exploration, 
technology moves forward by fi ts and starts but it is 
rightly said that ‘exploration begins again every 15 
years’. The $100 price for locally produced Bonny 
Light Sweet crude has dramatically improved the 
economics of West African projects.

There is a generally welcoming business 
environment for junior E&P companies in these 
countries of focus. The big up-front costs of the 
established provinces are a deterrent, as are the 
poor fi scal terms available in established producers 
such as Algeria and Angola. Many other countries 
like Libya or DRC suffer political issues. We aim at
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In 2008 our negotiating team had conceded 
the GNPC’s desire for 3D seismic in the surf-
zone and mangrove swamp areas of the block 
notwithstanding their oft-mentioned technical 
concerns that 3D seismic in such circumstances 
was not appropriate or possible. Further technical 
work during 2009 confi rmed these concerns and we 
proposed appropriate adjustments.

Simultaneously with these technical clarifi cations, 
the GNPC negotiators asked us to amend the 
Petroleum Agreement to grant greater entitlements 
pre-emption rights and the need for more 
comprehensive approvals of future corporate 
transactions involving the block.  Our technical 
and senior management team have made several 
presentations to GNPC, the Ministry of Energy, 
Ghana Internal Revenue Service, as well as other 
branches of the Ghanaian authorities.

All Ghanaian Petroleum Agreements are subject 
to Cabinet approval and ratifi cation by Parliament. 
This process was well advanced by June 2011.

Figure 1:  Current Ghanaian Licencing Map 

Review of Operations (continued)

areas of geological potential, reasonable legal and 
physical security with attractive fi scal terms and 
limited up-front costs:

Ghana now meets those objectives: over the past 
year Ghana has solidifi ed its status as the oil 
industry’s new hotspot, following recent success 
by Tullow/Kosmos in new (especially Cretaceous) 
plays generating an estimated 2 billion barrels of 
recoverable oil.  

Almost overnight Ghana moved from a small 
producer of 700 barrels daily to about 60,000 
and more. Anchor infrastructure is now being 
planned that will lower the costs and accelerate 
development time for additional projects. In a world 
that generally suffers from resource nationalism, 
Ghana offers competitive conditions and large 
exploration potential. English is the working 
language and there is established legal title based 
on English Law.

Clontarf’s management team has decades of West 
African experience, so was well placed to seize this 
opportunity. Accordingly, Ghana became our priority 
outside of South America.

A work programme has been agreed with GNPC, is 
reasonably fl exible and is not specifi cally bonded. 
In the initial exploration period the minimum 
expenditure is 

If the 1st well is Onshore US$ 25million
If the 1st well is Offshore  US$ 35million

(no sum was contractually specifi ed for the offshore 
area and upon conferring with the Exploration 
Department they gave US$35m as a reasonable 
fi gure).

Our team has collected, during 2010, all data 
available from GNPC and have now (June 2011) 
consolidated and integrated the GNPC geological 
and seismic data with our regional database so 
as to expedite and focus the exploration work 
programme.  

Clontarf Energy Annual Report & Accounts 20108



Review of Operations (continued)

Ratifi cation is a notoriously slow process in West 
Africa, so we have used the time to push ahead 
with our technical work: 
We reviewed the four seismic survey databases, 
shot and originally processed by different 
companies. Our group purchased all the available 
data from the GNPC. A total of 769 line kilometers 
of seismic data were loaded onto our corporate 
database.

Interpretation of the seismic data was conducted 
by Geophysical Center (GSC) a top contractor 
we have worked with in the Middle East for many 
years. Data quality was generally poor to fair, so 
much work was required to maximize the value 
of the database. This refl ects the data’s vintage, 
together with some apparent defects in the 
processing parameters.

However, it also refl ects the challenges in acquiring 
quality seismic data in the shallow water and surf 
zone conditions immediately offshore, and the 
frequently swampy nature of the coastal plain. 
Future reprocessing of diverse original data would 
provide a more uniform database, and improve 
the seismic data in terms of statics, velocities, 
frequency content and multiple elimination. In turn, 
this will help to minimize the ‘mis-tie’ problems 
between the different surveys that bedevil such 
exploration.

We studied fi ve horizons of different depths, and 
produced ‘time structure maps’ of acceptable 
reliability for two horizons. While these maps show 
the overall form of the basin, they are insuffi ciently 
detailed to allow prospect defi nition. Therefore 
a second analysis was conducted to scrutinize 
all seismic lines individually. This work aimed to 
defi ne areas of structural or stratigraphic potential, 
and develop play or prospect leads. This project 
was completed in May 2011. Data quality and grid 
spacing did not allow drillable prospects to be 
outlined, but we succeeded in identifying areas of 
greater promise within the Tano 2A Block.  

Reprocessing of the existing seismic lines using the 
original tapes is a critical early step in a methodical 
exploration programme. This solid base, together 
with later acquisition of new seismic data will 
undoubtedly defi ne additional areas of interest, 
particularly in the offshore section of the Block. 

Peru

Peru is a priority area for the international 
exploration and production industry because of 
its pro-business government, attractive fi scal 
terms, proven hydrocarbon systems yet relatively 
limited exploration history. Perupetro combines 
the functions of State Oil Company, allocator 
of oil & gas concessions (subject to law) and 
industry regulator. Perupetro is highly regarded 
within the industry internationally for its objectivity, 
professionalism and freedom from suspicion of 
irregularities.  

The Peruvian Government’s income from 
successful oil developments consists of an 
effective take of approximately 50% of the total 
value created. Work programme and conditions of 
necessary bonds for these blocks are excellent. 
Bonds required from the Company for these blocks 
are expected to cost approximately US$150k in 
total.

Our management team delivered (while at Pan 
Andean) four exploration blocks and three farm-
outs in Peru. Having invested c.US$3 million (a 
signifi cant proportion of which was later recovered 
from farm-in partners), Pan Andean (after divesting 
certain assets to Clontarf) was sold for US$31 
million in cash in 2010. Our intention is to repeat 
this success in Peru by adding value to properties 
which it intends to farm out, joint venture or sell.

When Perupetro launched its 2010 Bidding Round, 
Clontarf, via its 100% subsidiary Hydrocarbon 
Exploration plc, qualifi ed for the maximum 4 
Block bids and evaluated the blocks on offer.  We 
concentrated on three blocks in the southern 
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Ucayali Basin: 188, 175, 189 as well as Block 183, 
in the northern Marañon Basin. 

We were awarded blocks 188 and 183 in March 
2011. Together with other successful oil companies, 
we expect the Peru Government Supreme Decree 
authorising the formal signing of the contracts in 
mid-2011.

Block 188 is close to the world-class Camisea 
fi eld with an estimated 14 tcf of gas and over 800 
million barrels of hydrocarbon liquids (condensate 
& natural gasoline). Block 188 was formerly held 
by Repsol, which was obliged to relinquish the 
license after running out of exploration time. The 
play-type (or geologically-defi ned target) in this 
block is similar to the giant Camisea fi eld based on 
historic data that has recently been reprocessed 
with modern equipment and techniques by the 
prior operator. We believe that Block 188 is also 
prospective for medium-sized shallower fi elds.

Block 183 lies in the Marañon Basin in central 
Peru (which has been a source of oil production 
for several decades). The block is located beside 
blocks with existing oil production. Any discovery on 
this block could connect to existing gas-condensate 
infrastructure.

Block 183 Overview

Block 183 is almost 400,000 hectares in size and 
is located along the western central part of the 
Marañon basin. To the south, it is bordered by 
Block 160 operated by Kedcom. To the North it 
borders the block operated by Petrolifera Petroleum 
and, to the east, it is adjacent to Block 158 
operated by Talisman.

The north-Peruvian oil pipeline runs east to west 
near Block 183, parallel to the Marañon river.

To date, three wells have been drilled with 
inconclusive results.

Block 183 is covered by around 1,700 km of 1970’s 
2D seismic acquired by Sun Oil, Deminex, Amerada

Figure 2:  Peruvian petroleum licence blocks 
 and sedimentary basins.

Figure 3:  Peruvian petroleum licence blocks 
 location.

Clontarf
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Figure 4:  Possible leads on Block 183.

Review of Operations (continued)

Hess and Phillips. In 1985 and 1987 part of this 
data was reprocessed by Petroperu.

There are two oil fi elds, Maquia and Huaya (sub-
commercial) located adjacent to the southern 
portion of Block 183 and one gas fi eld, Aguaytia, 
also to the south of Block 183.

The gas in Aguaytia is believed to be sourced 
from the Pucará Formation although a study by 
Occidental Petroleum concludes that the gas is 
sourced from the Ambo Formation.

Marañon is a major basin for hydrocarbon 
production in Peru, with considerable exploration 
upside. This potential is associated with the 
Triassic-Jurassic and Cretaceous source rock. 
The main reservoirs correspond to Cretaceous 
sequences (Vivian, Chonta and Cushabatay).

The Pucará Group of Formations offer new 
opportunities for exploration, which is related to
dolomite sedimentary facies distribution. In the 
northwest part of Block 183, a paleo structure

has been identifi ed. The Shanusi well present 
porous dolomite facies with condensate and gas 
shows in the upper part of the Pucará Group. 
These sedimentary facies change and Pucará 
sedimentation is controlled by the paleo horst 
structure, To the North East, seismic information 
shows a hemi-graben and horst, these structures 
present good potential for hydrocarbon exploration.

There are two active petroleum systems already 
proven in the area and prospects and leads with 
exploratory potential have already been identifi ed. 

The petroleum systems are related with Pucara and 
Chonta source rocks. The kitchens of generated 
hydrocarbons are located to the west. Vivian, 
Chonta, and Cushabatay Formations are the 
exploration targets. 

Block 183 has good potential for hydrocarbons, 
given proximity of proven petroleum systems 
including Huaya, Maquia, Aguaytia and the Shanusi 
1X well.
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Block 188 Overview

Block 188 is almost 600,000 hectares and is 
located in the southeastern part of the Ucayali 
basin. The Fitzcarrald Arch lies to the east. Block 
188 is bordered to the south by Blocks 56 and 57, 
and to the west by Blocks 174 and 175. Block 188 
is part of the former Repsol Block 110. 

2D seismic was acquired by Murphy Oil Company 
during 1977 and 1998.

Three wells have been drilled near Block 188: La 
Colpa 1X, Platanal 1X and Shahuinto 1X. The La 
Colpa 1X and Platanal 1X wells were drilled by 
Occidental Petroleum in 1989 and 1998,and the 
Shahuinto 1X well was drilled by Murphy Oil in 
1998. These wells were drilled into the Basement 
rocks, which were reached at 2,100 to 3,500 
metres depth.

La Colpa well fl owed non-commercial oil in the 
Cretaceous sandstone (47 bbls, 23 ºAPI), the 
Copacabana (88 BO, 26.3º) and the Tarma Green 
sandstone (7.5 bbls, 29.4º API). Strong oil shows 
were encountered through the entire Copacabana 
carbonate section and in the upper portion of the 
Ambo Formation. Occidental Petroleum assigned 
in-place reserves of 58 MMBO to the Colpa 
structure. Recent studies indicate that the oil 
discovered in this well was charged with oil from 
Late Permian Ene Formation.

The Runuya well, not far from block 188, was 
drilled by Hispanoil, with oil shows encountered 
in Cushabatay, the Tarma/Copacabana and 
Cabanillas Formations. During the 1980s, Pre-
Cretaceous tests produced limited C1 to C6 gas in 
the Cabanillas Formation.

Mashansha 35-13-1X well, drilled by Repsol in 
2002, was the only well drilled in block 188.  Its 
main objectives were to test the Carboniferous 
Tarma Group (Green Sandstones), ENE, and Ambo 
Group, and as secondary objective the Cretaceous 
Chonta Formation. Oil and gas shows were

detected. ENE formation is an excellent 
hydrocarbons generator (which is also present in 
the giant Camisea gas & condensate fi eld).

In the Mashansha 35-13-1X well oil shows were 
encountered in the Ene and Tarma Formations. 
Also, gas shows from C1 to C5 were tested. 
According to information provided by Repsol, this 
well was drilled in block 188, which enhances the 
likelihood of fi nding high volumes of gas reserves.

Block 188

Bolivia

Clontarf has interests in the El Dorado gas/
condensate producing fi eld in Bolivia on which 
signifi cant exploration success was enjoyed in 
the second half of 2010, and in the Monteagudo 
oil/gas producing fi eld in Bolivia. Both of these 
projects are proven projects close to existing export 
pipelines. The gas export pipeline to Brazil runs 
across the El Dorado Field, while the Monteagudo 
Field is on existing oil pipelines and also the gas 
export pipeline to Argentina. This means that oil 
and gas production can be connected to existing 
infrastructure and sold on the international market.

The interests of Clontarf are held through a 100% 
owned subsidiary Petrolex S.A.

Figure 5:  Location of Peruvian Block 188

Clontarf
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In March 2010 a revised contract was signed 
between YPFB and ENARSA (Argentina) to build a 
32” gas pipeline to connect the existing Yabog and 
Madrejones gas pipelines, signifi cantly expanding 
the gas transportation capacity for exports to 
Argentina. The total investment is $88 million. 
The construction of this pipeline will be fi nished in 
2011 and Bolivia will deliver 7 million cubic feet per 
day of gas, to Argentina, quickly ramping up to 27 
million cubic feet per day in the following years.

El Dorado Field

Clontarf holds a 10% stake in the fi eld. The 
remaining 90% stake is held by YPFB Chaco, 
which was formerly part of the BP group (as 
Chaco S.A.). In 2007, Chaco was nationalized by 
the Bolivian state oil company, YPFB, following 
deteriorating relations between BP and the Bolivian 
government. 

The El Dorado Field covers 18,250 hectares 
in the Province of Cordillera, Santa Cruz. It is 
approximately 29 km from the entrance to the 
massive Boliva to Brazil gas export pipe line and 55 
km. south of the fast-growing city of Santa Cruz de 
la Sierra on the main paved highway which goes on 
to Argentina.

Despite adverse publicity due to the sometimes 
changing policy of the Government, Bolivia has 
been making progress since 2007: The year 2010 
saw a signifi cant increase in activities in the oil and 
gas sector, total natural gas production reached 
unparalleled levels of 1,580 mmcfd. Gas exports 
to Brazil and Argentina averaged 1,170 mmcfd 
and generate total revenues of $1,688 million. 
These important revenue fi gures were bolstered by 
continued high natural gas export prices, ending 
2010 at $7.27 per million btu. These prices, a 
result of a pricing formula linking the natural gas 
price to a basket of international fuel oil prices, 
should continue to be robust over the immediate 
future. When we fi rst contemplated developing El 
Dorado, Bolivian domestic prices were one-eighth 
and export prices one-sixth of US prices. Now 
there is a considerable premium, refl ecting fast 
demand growth in South America and the glut of 
unconventional gas in the USA.

Export Price Evolution 
($US/mmbtu)

Review of Operations (continued)
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Year Brazil Argentina
2009 4.96 6.00
2010 5.88 7.00

There was a signifi cant upturn in well drilling 
activity during 2010, as 5 exploration wells and 
10 development wells were drilled, and 19 well 
work-overs were performed. The total investment 
was $447 million. Increased exploration and 
development activities are planned through 2015, 
with total investment of $3,300 million projected to 
fulfi ll gas export volumes to Brazil and Argentina as 
well as satisfying internal market gas demand.

In March 2011, a signifi cant gas-condensate 
discovery was made at the Aquio prospect, 
operated by Total neighboring our Monteagudo 
fi eld. Production test of the discovery well reported 
17.6 MMCFD. Total estimated reserves are similar 
to those projected for our deep Monteagudo play: 
circa 3 trillion cubic feet (TCF). Figure 6:  El Dorado Field location, Bolivia. 
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The El Dorado Field produces a relatively rich (i.e. 
valuable) natural gas which is processed in the 
nearby Percheles Dew Point gas plant.

The assumption of control of Chaco by YPFB, 
while perceived internationally as negative, was a 
positive development for Clontarf, as YPFB brought 
the El Dorado Field into production, a development 
that Clontarf had been pushing unsuccessfully 
since 2000. As part of their work, YPFB drilled a 
step-out well some 10km away from the original 
El Dorado discovery in 1999/2000 and beyond a 
fault that was generally believed to delineate the 
El Dorado Field. This well was a major discovery, 
fl owing approximately 10 MMscf/d of gas and 
approximately 390 bcpd – greater even than the 
combined production of the initial fi eld wells. This 
production has recently been increasing with a 
successful production test after the completion of 
the El Dorado X-1005 which was drilled to a depth 
of 4,164 metres, which concluded on 31 July 2010. 
Production tests on this well delivered positive 
results.

Soon after this discovery YPFB re-entered the DRD 
X-1003 well (that had previously been considered 
unpromising). Production tests from the re-entry of 
the DRD X-1003 well (completed during November 
2010) gave positive results, with 4 to 5 million cubic 
feet daily (MMscf/d) of gas fl owing with chokes 
20/64 and 24/64. 

Following this recent exploration success, the 
Clontarf management team estimates reserves 
at up to 400 Bscf and 8 to 10 MM barrels of 
condensate. 

As of end December 2010, the El Dorado fi eld was 
producing 14 MMCFD of gas and 321 Bbls/day 
of liquids (condensate and natural gasoline) from 
3 producing wells. Production tests from re-entry 
into the previously drilled DRD-3 well (recently 
completed), gave positive results with 4 to 5 
MMCFD of additional gas production.These wells 

show that the fi eld extends substantially beyond the 
boundaries previously delineated by BP.

The successful re-entry well has not yet been 
brought into production because of the need for 
environmental permits which are expected later 
this year. Once this permit is received, production 
should rise to about 19 million cubic feet daily with 
up to 500 barrels of condensate.

Chaco SA are now completing the laying out of 
gathering lines from well to gas/oil/water separators 
and gas plant, involving considerable distances.

These new results have signifi cantly enhanced 
the previous estimates of total reserves (proven, 
probable and possible) in the region of 273.8 billion 
cubic feet. The successful drilling of DRD X-1005 
well, plus the re-entry of DRD X3 have confi rmed 
this improved scenario.

The re-entry of DRD-3 was classifi ed as an 
advanced well (10 km approximately from 
DRD-X1001) and the positive results increase 
the area of El Dorado’s reservoirs as well as the 
volume of rock and contained hydrocarbons. 
As stated above El Dorado’s reserves have 
consequently increased, with preliminary volumetric 
calculations indicating that the total recoverable 
reserves could approach 400 billion cubic feet, 
together with 8 to 10 million barrels of condensate.

Accordingly, ultimate planned production may 
be upgraded to circa 40 million cubic feet daily 
(MMscf/d) and 800 barrels of condensate daily 
(bcpd), which the Clontarf management expects, 
will yield gross revenues of over $200k daily. After 
confi rmation of the gas export price and repayment 
of capex, opex and royalties should yield several 
million dollars of revenue yearly.

Clontarf Energy Annual Report & Accounts 2010
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Monteagudo Field

Clontarf holds a 30% interest in the Monteagudo 
Field in Central Bolivia. This project is operated 
by Repsol, which holds a 30% interest. Petrobras 
owns 20% and Andina-YPFB 20%. The 
Monteagudo Field is located in the Sub Andean 
belt of Boliva in the department of Chuquisaca, 
approximately 240km from the city of Santa Cruz.

Figure 7:  Discoveries in the El Dorado Region

Clontarf has an ongoing dispute over cash calls 
made by Chaco which could affect its continued 
participation in the fi eld. Arising from the disputes 
over cash calls and litigation, the operator 
discontinued demands for cash calls from March 
2008. There is “force majeure” on this block by 
Clontarf but discussions are taking place to remove 
this. A civil lawsuit against Chaco, for the alleged 
non-fulfi lment of the joint operating agreement in 
respect of the El Dorado Field has been initiated. 
The action has been lodged with the Fourth Court 
of the District of La Paz and the judge has issued 
an injunction or restraining order against Chaco 
and YPFB ordering that no unilateral actions be 
taken while the case is being heard. 

Agreement has been reached on the amounts 
due and a payment plan is being negotiated. The 
balance of the amounts due to Chaco (amounting 
to approximately US$1.4 million) are proposed to 
come from proceeds of future oil and gas sales.

Review of Operations (continued)
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Figure 8:  Monteagudo Field location, Bolivia
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The Monteagudo Field is a traditional (i.e. pre-
1995) fi eld producing 120 bopd of 44˚ API of oil, 
400,000 cf/d of gas and 140 Bbls/d of water. The 
potential is the deep gas play estimated to contain 
up to 3 tcf. This is identifi ed by 3D seismic data and 
is identical to nearby multi-tcf discoveries.

Existing oil and gas exploration and production 
contracts in the country may be infl uenced by 
evolving Bolivian legislation such as the new 
constitution. To date, the Bolivian Government 
has not issued the necessary regulations 
governing implementation of the new constitution. 
Consequently, the impact of these developments 
remains uncertain.

The industry as a whole is principally concerned 
with possible tax changes, which are currently 
the subject of international arbitration initiated by 
oil companies active in Bolivia. Other than these 
tax changes, Clontarf does not believe that the 
effective title of operators is adversely affected and 
expects to continue operating in Bolivia.

In June 2005, the Bolivian Government issued 
three Supreme Decrees establishing royalties of 
18%, hydrocarbon taxes of 32%, and increased 
state involvement in the oil and gas industry. 
Petrolex commenced legal action challenging the 
legal basis for these taxes.

During 2010, negotiations began to purchase 
Repsol’s 30% and Petrobras 20% stakes. 
Negotiations are currently advanced, and could 
be completed by the end of 2011 although there 
is no guarantee that agreement will reached. 
The objective in buying these stakes is to reduce 
operating costs in the Monteagudo fi eld. Programs 
for well repairs are being prepared to increase 
current Monteagudo production. A more thorough 
study is being analyzed for the exploration and 
drilling of the deep target in the Monteagudo 
structure (Huamampampa and Santa Rosa 
Devonian Reservoirs).

Clontarf Energy Annual Report & Accounts 2010
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Figure 9:  Technical details of Monteagudo 
 Oil & Gas Field, Bolivia
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 • Bolivia: settlement of legal cases in respect of 
  the El Dorado Field (£0.4 million);
 • Maintenance of a local presence in the 
  countries in which the Enlarged Group has 
  operations (£1 million); and
 • transaction costs, head offi ce costs and general 
  working capital.

Our intended strategy for the Enlarged Group is: 

 • to capitalise on management experience in 
  successfully acquiring high potential 
  hydrocarbon exploration acreage and thereafter 
  adding value by obtaining the necessary 
  permits to explore and drill with value being 
  added through farm-out arrangements on such 
  assets to larger companies at a premium;
 • to develop the Tano 2A Block in Ghana;
 • to acquire and work on Peruvian exploration 
  licences. Perupetro has informed the 
  successful bidders that they expect to formally 
  sign those licences won in the October 2010 
  bidding round in mid-2011. Initial work on past 
  data is already underway; 
 • to conclude negotiations with Chaco to 
  resolve outstanding issues in respect of 
  Clontarf’s participation in the El Dorado Field;
 • to facilitate the acquisition of Repsol’s operating 
  30% of the Monteagudo Field with a view to 
  drilling by a new external partner the 3D 
  identifi ed gas target at depths greater than 
  4,000 metres. Also, to acquire Petrobras’s 20% 
  stake;
 • to bid for marginal projects in countries where 
  the Company has expertise providing the 
  technical and economic conditions are 
  appropriate.

Other Interests

In May 2010, Clontarf entered into a Memorandum 
of Understanding with Quimbabol, a company 
owned by the Bolivian armed forces, the state 
of Potosi and local communities (residing in the 
area) to study certain evaporates deposits in 
salt-lakes in Bolivia over which Quimbabol has 
concessions. The scope of study includes a variety 
of potentially economic minerals, including lithium. 
Bolivia accounts for approximately 50% of the 
world’s lithium reserves in mainly fi ve salt lakes (in 
particular, the Lake Uyuni and Coipasa salt pans in 
the Andes). 

Under the Memorandum of Understanding, Clontarf 
has agreed to prepare a scoping study on industrial 
projects associated with the salt-lakes, namely 
a soda ash plant and borax derived deposits. 
This project is currently very early stage and the 
Directors expect that it will involve relatively low 
cost commitments in 2011.  The next steps for this 
project are laboratory tests on samples already 
taken to determine the chemical and physical 
properties of the constituent minerals with a view to 
processing and marketing to key customers.

Because of the prevailing circumstances, especially 
international sanctions and pressure from AIM 
outbounds, Clontarf does not intend to continue 
operating in Iran until circumstances improve. 
Accordingly we are in negotiations to sell our 
minerals exploration and development projects for 
a royalty interest.

Next Steps

In early 2011, Clontarf raised just under £3 
million. These funds are being invested as 
follows:

 • Ghana: interpretation of the main seismic 
  surveys acquired by the Company on the Tano 
  2A Block together with local training costs (£0.3 
  million);

Review of Operations (continued)

Clontarf Energy Annual Report & Accounts 2010 17



The directors present their annual report and the audited fi nancial statements of the group and company for the 
year ended 31 December 2010.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY, BUSINESS REVIEW AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS
Clontarf Energy plc (formerly Persian Gold plc), formed in 2003, is a UK incorporated AIM quoted company 
which was established to explore gold and porphyry copper-gold deposits in Iran.  

Due to the diffi culties of operating in Iran the Directors have made the decision to impair their Iranian interests. 
An impairment provision has been recognised against the total of exploration and evaluation expenditure 
incurred on the Iranian projects.

On 22 June 2010, the Company announced that it had entered into an Implementation Agreement with 
Hydrocarbon Exploration Plc (HyEx) whereby it agreed to acquire all of the shares in HyEx. The acquisition was 
completed in April 2011. The principal activities going forward will be oil & gas exploration in Africa and Latin 
America.

On 21 March 2011, the Company changed its name to Clontarf Energy Plc.

Further details are outlined in Note 27.

Further information concerning the activities of the group and its future prospects is contained in the Chairman’s 
Statement and the Review of Operations. 

The Directors noted that at the Balance Sheet date the net assets of the company were less than half of its 
called-up share capital but subsequent to the year end the company raised £2.7 million of additional capital.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The loss after taxation for the year amounted to £2,225,347 (2009: loss £316,000). 

The directors do not propose that a dividend be paid (2009: £Nil).

SUPPLIER PAYMENT POLICY
The group’s policy is to settle terms of payment with suppliers when agreeing the terms of each transaction to 
ensure that suppliers are made aware of the terms of payment and abide by the terms of payment.

DIRECTORS
The current directors are listed on inside of back cover. There were no changes to the Board during the year.

DIRECTORS AND THEIR INTERESTS IN SHARES OF THE COMPANY
The directors holding offi ce at 31 December 2010 had the following interests in the ordinary shares of the 
company:

 31 December 2010 31 December 2009 
 Ordinary    Ordinary  Ordinary Ordinary   Ordinary   Ordinary
 Shares of Shares of Shares of Shares of Shares of Shares of
 0.25p each 0.25p each 0.25p each 0.25p each 0.25p each 0.25p each
 Shares  Options Warrants Shares Options Warrants
 Number Number Number Number Number Number

J. J. Teeling 11,675,400 2,190,000 937,500 11,675,400 2,190,000 937,500
J. Finn 5,950,400 1,590,000 625,000 5,950,400 1,590,000 625,000
Jack Teeling 4,725,000 1,590,000 312,000 4,725,000 1,590,000 312,000
D. Horgan 5,450,000 1,150,000 625,000 5,450,000 1,150,000 625,000
M. Takin 300,000 175,000 150,000 300,000 175,000 150,000
 
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDINGS
The share register records that the following shareholders, excluding directors, held 3% or more of the issued
share capital of the company as at 31 May 2011 and at 31 December 2010:
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDINGS (continued)
 31 May 2011 31 December 2010
  No. of shares %  No. of shares %

WB Nominees  8,243,899 4.12%  4,999,900 6.65%
Vidacos Nominees  - -  4,100,000 6.65%
HSBC Global Custody Nominees  - -  4,340,000 5.77%

RISKS AND UNCERTAINITIES
The realisation of exploration and evaluation assets is dependent on the discovery and successful development 
of economic reserves including the ability to raise fi nance to develop future projects.  Should this prove 
unsuccessful the value included in the balance sheet would be written off to the statement of comprehensive 
income.  This is subject to a number of signifi cant potential risks including:

- price fl uctuations;
- foreign exchange risks;
- uncertainties over development and operational costs;
- political and legal risks, including arrangements with governments for licenses, profi t sharing and taxation;
- foreign investment risks including increases in taxes, royalties and renegotiation of contracts;
- liquidity risks; and
- funding risks.
- going concern
- operations and environmental risks

GOING CONCERN
Refer to Note 3 for details in relation to Going Concern.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance and to managing the company in 
an honest and ethical manner.

The Board approves the Group’s strategy, investment plans and regularly reviews operational and fi nancial 
performance, risk management and health, safety, environment and community (HSEC) Matters.

The Chairman is responsible for the leadership of the Board, whilst the Executive Directors are responsible 
for formulating strategy and delivery, once agreed by the Board.  Regional leaders and country managers are 
responsible for the implementation of the Group’s strategy.

CHARITABLE AND POLITICAL CONTRIBUTIONS
The group made no political or charitable contributions during the year.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
The group’s main key performance indicators include measuring:

 • ability to raise fi nance on the alternative investment market; and
 • quantity and quality of potential gold reserves identifi ed by the group.

In addition, the group reviews expenditure incurred on exploration projects and ongoing operating costs.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
Details of the authorised and issued share capital, together with details of movements in the company’s issued 
share capital during the year are shown in Note 20. The company has one class of ordinary share which carries 
no right to fi xed income. Each share carries the right to one vote at general meetings of the company.

There are no specifi c restrictions on the size of a holding nor on the transfer of shares, which are both governed 
by the general provisions of the Articles of Association and prevailing legislation.  With regard to the appointment 
and replacement of directors, the company is governed by the Articles of Association, the Companies Act, and 
related legislation.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Details of the group’s fi nancial risk management policies are set out in Note 22.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
Details of signifi cant post balance sheet events affecting the group are set out in Note 27.

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITIES
The company does not currently maintain directors’ or offi cers liability insurance.

AUDITORS
Each of the persons who is a director at the date of approval of this report confi rms that:

1) so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the company’s auditors are 
unaware; and
2) the director has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself/
herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the company’s auditors are aware of that 
information.

This confi rmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of s418 of the Companies 
Act, 2006.

A resolution to reappoint Deloitte & Touche will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:

James Finn
Secretary

28 June 2011

20

Director’s Report (continued)



Clontarf Energy Annual Report & Accounts 2010

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the fi nancial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations.

Company Law requires the directors to prepare fi nancial statements for each fi nancial year. The directors are 
required to prepare the fi nancial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union.  Under company law the directors must not approve the fi nancial 
statements unless they are satisfi ed that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company 
and of the profi t or loss of the company for that period.  In preparing these fi nancial statements, International 
Accounting Standard 1 requires that directors:

 • properly select and apply accounting policies;
 • present information, including accounting policies in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable 
  and understandable information;
 • provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specifi c requirements in IFRSs are insuffi cient 
  to enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the 
  entity’s fi nancial position and fi nancial performance; and
 • make an assessment of the company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are suffi cient to show and explain 
the company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the fi nancial position of the 
company and enable them to ensure that the fi nancial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.  They 
are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and fi nancial information 
included on the company’s website.  Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and 
dissemination of fi nancial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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We have audited the fi nancial statements of Clontarf Energy plc (formerly Persian Gold plc) for the year ended 
31 December 2010 which comprise the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated 
and Parent Company Balance Sheets, the Consolidated and Company Statement of Changes in Equity, the 
Consolidated and Company Cash Flow Statements and the related notes 1 to 27.  The fi nancial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and as regards the parent company Financial Statements, 
as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2006.

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 
Companies Act, 2006.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members 
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose.  To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the 
company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities, the directors are responsible for 
the preparation of the fi nancial statements and for being satisfi ed that they give a true and fair view.  Our 
responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the fi nancial statements in accordance with applicable 
law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).  Those standards require us to comply with the 
Auditing Practices Board’s (APB’s) Ethical Standards for Auditors.

SCOPE OF THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial statements suffi cient to 
give reasonable assurance that the fi nancial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by 
fraud or error.  This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s 
and the parent company’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the 
reasonableness of signifi cant accounting estimates made by the directors; and the overall presentation of the 
fi nancial statements.

OPINION ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
In our opinion:
 • the fi nancial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s 
  affairs as at 31 December 2010 and of the group’s loss for the year then ended;
 • the group fi nancial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the 
  European Union;
 • the parent company fi nancial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as 
  adopted by the European Union and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 
  2006; and
 • the fi nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 
  2006.

SEPARATE OPINION IN RELATION TO IFRSs ISSUED BY IASB
As explained in Note 1(i) to the fi nancial statements, the group in addition to complying with its legal obligation 
to apply IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, has also applied IFRSs as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

In our opinion the group fi nancial statements comply with IFRSs as issued by the IASB.

OPINION ON OTHER MATTER PRESCRIBED BY THE COMPANIES ACT, 2006
In our opinion:
• the information given in the Directors’ Report for the fi nancial year for which the fi nancial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the fi nancial statements.

Emphasis of Matter- Realisation of Assets
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw your attention to Note 12 to the fi nancial statements concerning the 

Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of
Clontarf Energy Plc (formerly Persian Gold Plc)
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of
Clontarf Energy Plc (formerly Persian Gold Plc)

valuation of intangible assets. The realisation of intangible assets of £170,539 included in the consolidated 
and parent company balance sheets  is dependent on the discovery and successful development of economic 
mineral reserves including the ability of the Group to raise suffi cient fi nance to develop the projects.  The 
fi nancial statements do not include any adjustments relating to these uncertainties, and the ultimate outcome 
cannot, at present, be determined.

MATTERS ON WHICH WE ARE REQUIRED TO REPORT BY EXCEPTION

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act, 2006 requires us to 
report to you if, in our opinion:

 • adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit 
  have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
 • the parent company fi nancial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
 • certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specifi ed by law are not made; or
 • we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Kevin Sheehan (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of Deloitte & Touche
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
Dublin, Ireland

28 June 2011
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   2010 2009
  Notes £ £

REVENUE  - -

Cost of sales  - -
                                           
GROSS PROFIT  - -

Administrative expenses  (287,380) (315,118)

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets  12  (1,934,807) -
                                           
OPERATING LOSS  (2,222,187) (315,118)

Finance income 5 - 134

Finance costs 6 (3,160) (1,016)
                                           
LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 4 (2,225,347) (316,000)
   
Income tax expense 10 - -
                                           
LOSS FOR THE YEAR AND TOTAL
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  (2,225,347) (316,000)
                                          

LOSS PER SHARE – Basic and diluted  11 (2.96p) (0.42p)

Consolidated Statement Of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 December 2010
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   2010 2009
  Notes £ £

ASSETS:

NON CURRENT ASSETS

Intangible assets 12 170,539 1,910,073
Investments 13 177,699 -
                                           
   348,238 1,910,073 
                                       
CURRENT ASSETS

Other receivables 15 4,539 4,053
Cash and cash equivalents 16 54,548 23,714
                                           
   59,087 27,767
                                           
TOTAL ASSETS  407,325 1,937,840
                                           

LIABILITIES:

CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Trade and other payables 17 (1,070,633) (386,226)

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Provision 18 - (10,000)
                                           
TOTAL LIABILITIES  (1,070,633) (396,226)
                                          
NET (LIABILITIES) / ASSETS  (663,308) 1,541,614
                                          

EQUITY

Called-up share capital 20 187,932 186,656
Share premium  2,673,913 2,654,764
Retained earnings – (defi cit)  (3,732,450) (1,514,442)
Share based payment reserve  207,297 214,636
                                           
TOTAL (DEFICIT)/ EQUITY   (663,308) 1,541,614
                                          

The fi nancial statements of Clontarf Energy plc (formerly Persian Gold plc), registered number 4967918, were 
approved by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2011 and signed on its behalf by:

John Teeling
Director

Consolidated Balance Sheet 
as at 31 December 2010
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   2010 2009
  Notes £ £
ASSETS:

NON CURRENT ASSETS

Intangible assets 12 170,539 1,595,933
Investments 13 177,699 -
Investment in subsidiaries 14 67 67
                                          
   348,305 1,596,000
                                          
CURRENT ASSETS

Other receivables 15 4,472 239,293
Cash and cash equivalents 16 54,548 18,984
                                          
   59,020 258,277
                                          
TOTAL ASSETS  407,325 1,854,277
                                          
LIABILITIES:

CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Trade and other payables 17 (1,070,633) (302,663)

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Provision 18 - (10,000)
                                          
TOTAL LIABILITIES  (1,070,633) (312,663)
                                          
NET (LIABILITIES) / ASSETS  (663,308) 1,541,614
                                          

EQUITY

Called-up share capital 20 187,932 186,656
Share premium  2,673,913 2,654,764
Retained earnings – (defi cit)  (3,732,450) (1,514,442)
Share based payment reserve  207,297 214,636
                                          
TOTAL (DEFICIT)/EQUITY   (663,308) 1,541,614
                                          
 
The fi nancial statements of Clontarf Energy plc (formerly Persian Gold plc), registered number 4967918, were 
approved by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2011 and signed on its behalf by:

John Teeling
Director

Company Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2010
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 Called-up  Share Based
 Share Share Payment Retained
 Capital Premium Reserve Defi cit Total
 £ £ £ £ £

At 1 January 2009 186,656 2,654,764 214,636 (1,198,442) 1,857,614

Loss for the year - - - (316,000) (316,000)
                                                               
                                       
At 31 December 2009 186,656 2,654,764 214,636 (1,514,442) 1,541,614

Exercise of Warrants - - (7,339) 7,339 -

Shares issued for cash 1,276 19,149 - - 20,425

Loss for the year - - - (2,225,347) (2,225,347)
                                                               
                                       
At 31 December 2010 187,932 2,673,913 207,297 (3,732,450) (663,308)
                                                               
                                       

Share premium

The share premium reserve comprises of a premium arising on the issue of shares.

Share based payment reserve

The share based payment reserve arises on the grant of share options under the share option plan.

Retained defi cit

Retained defi cit comprises of losses incurred in 2010 and prior years.

Consolidated and Company Statement of Changes in Equity 
for the year ended 31 December 2010
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   2010 2009
  Notes £ £

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Loss for fi nancial year  (2,225,347) (316,000)
Finance costs recognised in loss     3,160 1,016
Finance revenue recognised in loss  - (134)
Exchange movement  588 4,217
Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets   1,934,807 -
                                          
   (286,792) (310,901)

MOVEMENTS IN WORKING CAPITAL

Increase in payables and provisions  674,407 215,467
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables  (486) 8,644
                                          
CASH USED BY OPERATIONS  387,129 (86,790)

Finance cost  (3,160) (1,016)

Finance income  - 134
                                          
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES  383,969 (87,672)
                                          

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments for intangible assets  (195,273) (78,522)
Payments for investment  (177,699) -
                                          
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES  (372,972) (78,522)
                                          

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from exercise of warrants  20,425 -
                                          
NET CASH GENERATED FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  20,425 -
                                          

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  31,422 (166,194)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the fi nancial year  23,714 194,125

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash held in 
foreign currencies  (588) (4,217)
                                          
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the fi nancial year 16 54,548 23,714

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2010
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   2010 2009
  Notes £ £

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Loss for fi nancial year  (2,225,347) (316,000)
Finance costs recognised in loss  3,160 1,016
Finance revenue recognised in loss  - (134)
Exchange movement  588 3,340
Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets  1,597,198 -
                                          
   (624,401) (311,778)

MOVEMENTS IN WORKING CAPITAL

Increase in payables and provisions  757,970 226,321
Decrease in trade and other receivables  234,821 (61,213)
                                          
CASH USED BY OPERATIONS  368,390 (146,670)

Finance cost  (3,160) (1,016)

Finance income  - 134
                                          
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES  365,230 (147,552)
                                          

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments for intangible assets  (171,804) (23,998)
Payments for investment  (177,699) -
                                          
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES  (349,503) (23,998)
                                          

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issue of equity shares  20,425 -
                                          
NET CASH GENERATED FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  20,425 -
                                          

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  36,152 (171,550)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the fi nancial year  18,984 193,874

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash held in 
foreign currencies  (588) (3,340)
                                          
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the fi nancial year 16 54,548 18,984

Company Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2010
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 The signifi cant accounting policies adopted by the group and company are as follows:

 (i) Basis of preparation

  The fi nancial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010, for the Group and Company have been prepared 
  in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as published by the IASB. These fi nancial 
  statements have also been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and in 
  accordance with the Companies Act 2006.  The fi nancial statements are presented in pounds sterling.

 (ii) Accounting Convention

  The fi nancial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention except for the revaluation of certain 
  fi nancial instruments.

 (iii) Basis of consolidation

  The consolidated fi nancial statements incorporate the fi nancial statements of the Company and entities controlled by 
  the Company (its subsidiaries) made up to 31 December each year. Control is achieved where the Company has the 
   power to govern the fi nancial and operating policies of an investee entity so as to obtain benefi ts from its activities.

  Where necessary, adjustments have been made to the fi nancial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting 
  policies used into line with those used by the Group.

   All intra-group transactions’ balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

 (iv) Intangible assets 

  Exploration and evaluation assets
  Exploration expenditure relates to the initial search for mineral deposits with economic potential in Iran, Ghana and 
  Bolivia. Evaluation expenditure arises from a detailed assessment of deposits that have been identifi ed as having 
  economic potential. 

  The costs of exploration properties and leases, which include the cost of acquiring prospective properties and 
  exploration rights and costs incurred in exploration and evaluation activities, are capitalised as intangible assets as 
  part of exploration and evaluation assets. 

  Exploration costs are capitalised as an intangible asset until technical feasibility and commercial viability 
  of extraction of reserves are demonstrable, when the capitalised exploration costs are re-classed 
  to property, plant and equipment.  Exploration costs include an allocation of administration and salary 
  costs (including share based payments) as determined by management.

  Prior to reclassifi cation to property, plant and equipment, exploration and evaluation assets are 
  assessed for impairment and any impairment loss recognised immediately in the statement of 
  comprehensive income.

  Impairment of intangible assets
  Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the 
  carrying amount may exceed its recoverable amount.  The company reviews and tests for impairment on an ongoing 
  basis and specifi cally if the following occurs:

  a)  the period for which the group has a right to explore in the specifi c area has expired during the period or will 
   expire in the near future, and is not expected to be renewed;
  b)  substantive expenditure on further exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the specifi c area is 
   neither budgeted nor planned;
  c)  exploration for an evaluation of mineral resources in the specifi c area have not led to the discovery of 
   commercially viable quantities of mineral resources and the Group has decided to discontinue such activities in 
   the specifi c area; and
  d)  suffi cient data exists to indicate that although a development in the specifi c area is likely to proceed the carrying 
   amount of the exploration and evaluation asset is unlikely to be recovered in full from successful development or 
   by sale.

 (v) Foreign currencies

  The individual fi nancial statements of each Group company are maintained in the currency of the primary economic

Notes To The Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2010
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
  environment in which it operates (its functional currency). For the purpose of the consolidated fi nancial statements, 
  the results and fi nancial position of each Group company are expressed in pounds sterling, which is the functional 
  currency of the Company and presentation currency for the consolidated fi nancial statements.

  In preparing the fi nancial statements of the individual companies, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s 
  functional currency (foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the 
  transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies 
  are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are 
  denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was re-
   determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not 
  retranslated.

  Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, 
  are included in the statement of comprehensive income for the period. Exchange differences arising on the 
  retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in the statement of comprehensive income for 
  the period except for differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and 
  losses are recognised directly in equity.

  For the purpose of presenting consolidated fi nancial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign 
  operations are translated at exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are 
  translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fl uctuate signifi cantly during that 
  period, in which case the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used. 

  Fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign 
  entity and translated at the closing rate.

 (vi) Taxation

  The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

  Current tax is based on taxable profi t for the year. Taxable profi t differs from net profi t as reported in the statement 
  of comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other 
  years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is 
  calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

  Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of 
  assets and liabilities in the fi nancial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable 
  profi t, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised 
  for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, 
  carry forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profi ts will be 
  available against which deductible temporary differences and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused 
  tax losses can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the 
  initial recognition of goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and 
  liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profi t nor the accounting profi t.

  Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and 
  associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that 
  the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

  Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and 
  associates, only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future 
  and taxable profi t will be available against which the temporary difference can be utilised.

  The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it 
  is no longer probable that suffi cient taxable profi ts will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

  Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent that 
  it has become probable that future taxable profi ts will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

  Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the 
  asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance 
  sheet date. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the statement of comprehensive income, except when it relates to 
  items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

Notes To The Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2010
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
 
  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 
  against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the 
  Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

 (vii) Share-based payments

  The group has applied the requirements of IFRS 2 “Share-Based Payment”.  In accordance with the transitional 
  provisions, IFRS 2 has been applied to all equity instruments vesting after 1 January 2006, where the grant date is 
  after 7 November 2002.

  The group issues equity-settled share based payments to directors.  Equity settled share-based payments are 
  measured at fair value at the date of grant.  The fair value excludes the effect of non market based vesting 
  conditions.  The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on 
  a straight-line basis over the vesting period based on the group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest and 
  adjusted for the effect of non-market based vesting conditions.

  Where the value of the goods or services received in exchange for the share-based payment cannot be reliably 
  estimated the fair value is measured by use of a Black-Scholes model.  

 (viii) Investment in Subsidiaries

  Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any provision for impairment.  

 (ix)  Operating loss

  Operating loss comprises of general administrative costs incurred by the company, which are not specifi c to 
  evaluation and exploration projects.  Operating loss is stated before fi nance income, fi nance costs and other gains 
  and losses.

 (x) Provisions

  Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable 
  that the Group will be required to settle that obligation.  Provisions are measured at the directors’ best estimate 
  of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the balance sheet date, and are discounted to present value 
  where the effect is material.  The restoration provision includes the dismantling and demolition of infrastructure 
  and the removal of residual materials and remediation of disturbed areas.  Restoration costs are a normal 
  consequence of exploring.  Although the ultimate cost to be incurred is uncertain the Group estimate their respective 
  costs based on feasibility and engineering studies using current restoration standards and techniques.  The 
  restoration provision is capitalised within exploration and evaluation assets.

 (xi) Financial Instruments

  Financial instruments are recognised in the Group’s balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the 
  contractual provisions of the instrument.

  Cash and cash equivalents 
  Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash held by the Group and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity 
  of three months or less.

  Financial liabilities
  Financial liabilities are classifi ed according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into, mainly 
  accruals.

  Trade Payables
  Trade payables classifi ed as fi nancial liabilities are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently measured at 
  amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

  Equity instruments
  Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

  Financial Assets
  Where the fair value of a fi nancial asset can be reliably measured the fi nancial asset is initially recognised at fair 
  value through the profi t and loss account. At each balance sheet date gains or losses arising from a change in fair 
  value are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as other gains and losses.

   Financial assets for which the fair value cannot be reliably measured are carried at cost
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
 (xii) Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

  Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies
 
  In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies above, management has made the following judgements 
  that have the most signifi cant effect on the amounts recognised in the fi nancial statements (apart from those 
  involving estimations, which are dealt with below).

  Exploration and evaluation 
  The assessment of whether general administration costs and salary costs are capitalised or expensed involves 
  judgement.  Management considers the nature of each cost incurred and whether it is deemed appropriate to 
  capitalise it within intangible assets.  Costs which can be demonstrated as project related are included within 
  exploration and evaluation assets.  Exploration and evaluation assets relate to prospecting, exploration and related 
  expenditure in Iran, Ghana and Bolivia.  The group’s exploration activities are subject to a number of signifi cant and 
  potential risks including:

  • price fl uctuations;
  • foreign exchange risks;
  • uncertainties over development and operational risks;
  • operations and environmental risks;
  • political and legal risks, including arrangements with governments for licenses, profi t sharing and taxation;
  • foreign investment risks including increases in taxes, royalties and renegotiation of contracts;
  • liquidity risks; and
  • funding risks.

  The recoverability of these intangible assets is dependent on the discovery and successful development of 
  economic reserves, including the ability to raise fi nance to develop future projects.  Should this prove unsuccessful, 
  the value included in the balance sheet would be written off to the statement of comprehensive income.

  Impairment of intangible assets
  The assessment of intangible assets for any indications of impairment involves judgement. If an indication of 
  impairment exists, a formal estimate of recoverable amount is performed and an impairment loss recognised to the 
  extent that carrying amount exceeds recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is determined as the higher of fair 
  value less costs to sell and value in use.

  The assessment requires judgement as to the likely future commerciality of the asset and when such commerciality 
  should be determined; future revenues, capital and operating costs and the discount rate to be applied to such 
  revenues and costs.

  Deferred tax assets
  The assessment of availability of future taxable profi ts involves judgement. A deferred tax asset is recognised to 
  the extent that it is probable that taxable profi ts will be available against which deductible temporary differences and 
  the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised.

  Going concern
  The preparation of fi nancial statements requires an assessment on the validity of the going concern assumption. 
  The validity of the going concern concept is dependent on fi nance being available for the continuing working 
  capital requirements of the group and fi nance for the development of the group’s projects becoming available. Based 
  on the assumptions that such fi nance will become available, the directors believe that the going concern basis 
  is appropriate for these accounts. Should the going concern basis not be appropriate, adjustments would have 
  to be made to reduce the value of the group’s assets, in particular the intangible assets, to their realisable values.  
  Further information concerning going concern is outlined in Note 3.

  Key sources of estimation uncertainty
  The preparation of fi nancial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
  amounts reported for assets and liabilities as at the balance sheet date and the amounts reported for revenues and 
  expenses during the year. The nature of estimation means that actual outcomes could differ from those estimates.
  The key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a signifi cant risk of  causing material adjustment to the carrying 
  amounts of assets and liabilities within the next fi nancial year are discussed below.
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
 
 Share-based payments
 The estimation of share-based payment costs requires the selection of an appropriate valuation model and 
 consideration as to the inputs necessary for the valuation model chosen. The Group has made estimates 
 as to the volatility of its own shares, the probable life of options granted and the time of exercise of those options.  
 The model used by the Group is the Black-Scholes valuation model.

 Warrants
 The fair value of the warrants is estimated at the issue date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with 
 estimates of the volatility of company/subsidiary shares, expected dividend yield and a risk-free interest rate.

2. INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
 The Group did not adopt any new International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) or Interpretations in the year that 
 had a material impact on the Group’s Financial Statements. 

 The following IFRS became effective since the last Annual Report but had no material impact on the Financial 
 Statements:

 IFRS 1 (Revised) First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (effective for accounting periods 
  beginning on or after 1 July 2009);
 IFRS 2  (Amendment) Share Based Payments (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009 and 1 
  January 2010);
 IFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010);
 IFRS 5 (Amendment) Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations (effective for accounting period 
  beginning on or after 1 July 2009 and 1 January 2010);
 IFRS 8 (Amendment) Operating Segments (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010);
 IAS 1  (Amendment) Presentation of Financial Statements (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 
  January 2010);
 IAS 7  (Amendment) Statement of Cash Flows (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010);
 IAS 17 (Amendment) Leases (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010);
 IAS 27 (Amendment) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (effective for accounting periods beginning on 
  or after 1 July 2009);
 IAS 28 (Amendment) Investments in Associates (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009);
 IAS 31 (Amendment) Interests in Joint Ventures (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009);
 IAS 36 (Amendment) Impairment of Assets (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010);
 IAS 38 (Amendment) Intangible Assets (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009);
 IAS 39 (Amendment) Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (effective for accounting period beginning 
  on or after 1 July 2009 and 1 January 2010);
 IFRIC 9 (Amendment) Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 
  July 2009)
 IFRIC 16 (Amendment) Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation (effective for accounting periods beginning on 
  or after 1 July 2009);
 IFRIC 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009); 
  and
 IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009).

 At the date of authorisation of these fi nancial statements, the following Standards and Interpretations which have not 
 been applied in these fi nancial statements were in issue but not yet effective:

 IFRS 1 (Revised) First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (effective for accounting periods 
  beginning on or after 1 July 2010);
 IFRS 1 (Amendment) First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (effective for accounting 
  periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010);
 IFRS 3 (Amendment) Business Combinations (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010);
 IFRS 7 (Amendment) Financial Instruments: Disclosures (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 
  2011);
 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013);
 IAS 1 (Amendment) Presentation of Financial Statements (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 
  January 2011)
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2. INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)
 IAS 12 (Amendment) Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets (effective for accounting periods beginning on or 
  after 1 January 2012);
 IAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011);
 IAS 27 (Amendment) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (effective for accounting periods beginning on 
  or after 1 July 2010);
 IAS 32 (Amendment) Financial Instruments: Presentation (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 
  February 2010);
 IAS 34 (Amendment) Interim Financial Reporting (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 
  2011)
 IFRIC 14 (Amendment) Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement (effective for accounting periods beginning on 
  or after 1 January 2011); and
 IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 
  1 July 2010).

 The Directors are currently assessing the impact in relation to the adoption of these Standards and Interpretations for 
 future periods of the Group, however, at this point they do not believe they will have a signifi cant impact on the fi nancial 
 statements of the Group in the period of initial application.

3. GOING CONCERN

 The group incurred a loss for the year of £2,225,347, had a retained earnings defi cit of £3,732,450, and net liabilities of 
 £663,308 at the balance sheet date. 

 As outlined in Note 27 the company raised £2,700,000 subsequent to the year end.  The proceeds of this share placing 
 will be used to fund working capital requirements and to develop existing capital projects.

 Accordingly the directors are satisfi ed that it is appropriate to continue to prepare the fi nancial statements on a going 
 concern basis as there will be suffi cient funds in place to continue operations for the foreseeable future. The fi nancial 
 statements do not include any adjustment to the carrying amount, or classifi cation of asset and liabilities, that would be 
 required if the group or company was unable to continue as a going concern.

4. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION  
   2010 2009
   £ £
 The loss before taxation is stated after charging:

 Auditor’s remuneration  13,863 15,000
                                          
 The analysis of auditor’s remuneration is as follows:

 Fees payable to the group’s auditors for the audit of the 
 Group’s annual accounts  12,000 15,000
 Taxation  1,863 -
                                          
   13,863 15,000
 Details of directors’ remuneration are disclosed in Note 8. 

 Administrative expenses comprise:

 Professional fees  77,396    90,142
 Foreign exchange losses  588 4,217
 Directors’ remuneration (Note 8)  180,000 180,000
 Other administrative expenses  29,396 40,759
                                          
   287,380 315,118
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5. FINANCE INCOME  
   2010 2009
   £ £
 
 Bank deposit interest  - 134
                                          

6. FINANCE COSTS  2010 2009 
   £ £

 Bank charges  3,160 1,016

7. SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS

 Operating segments are identifi ed on the basis of internal reports about the group that are regularly reviewed by the chief 
 operating decision maker. The Board is deemed the chief operating decision maker with the group for management 
 purposes, the group is currently organised into three segments Ghana, Bolivia and Iran.

 Segment information about the group and company’s activities is presented below.
 
 7A. Segment Revenue and Segment Results:

 Group
  Segment Revenue Segment Results
  2010 2009 2010 2009
  £ £ £ £

 Ghana - - - -
 Bolivia - - - -
 Iran (Note 12) - - (1,934,807) -
                                       
 Total continuing operations - - (1,934,807) -
 Unallocated head offi ce - - (290,540) (316,000)
                                            
  - - (2,225,347) (316,000)

 There was no revenue earned during the year. The expenses incurred in Iran relate to an impairment of the exploration 
 and evaluation assets. See note 12 for more details. 

 7B. Segment assets and liabilities

 Group
  Assets Liabilities
  2010 2009 2010 2009
  £ £ £ £

 Ghana 164,489 - 160,440 -
 Bolivia 6,050 - - -
 Iran - 1,910,073 - 96,810
                                            
 Total continuing operations 170,539 1,910,073 160,440 96,810
 Unallocated head offi ce 236,786 27,767 910,193 299,416
                                            
  407,325 1,937,840 1,070,633 396,226
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7. SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (continued)

 Company
  Assets Liabilities
  2010 2009 2010 2009
  £ £ £ £

 Ghana 164,489 - 160,440 -
 Bolivia 6,050 - - -
 Iran - 1,595,787 - 13,370
                                            
 Total continuing operations 170,539 1,595,787 160,440 13,370
 Unallocated head offi ce 236,786 258,490 910,193 299,293
                                            
  407,325 1,854,277 1,070,633 312,663

 7C. Other segmental information

 Additions to non current assets Group Company
  2010 2009 2010 2009
  £ £ £ £

 Ghana 164,489 - 164,489 -
 Bolivia 6,050 - 6,050 -
 Iran 24,734 78,522 1,265 23,998
                                            
 Total continuing operations 195,273 78,522 171,804 23,998
 Unallocated head offi ce - - - -
                                       
  195,273 78,522 171,804 23,998

8. RELATED PARTY AND OTHER TRANSACTIONS

 Group and Company
 
 • Directors’ Remuneration and Key Management Compensation

 The remuneration of the directors, who are considered to be the key management personnel, is set out below.

  2010 2010 2010 2009 2009 2009
  Fees: Fees: Total Fees: Fees: Total
  Services Other  Services Other
  as director services  as director services
  £ £ £ £ £ £

 John Teeling 5,000 55,000 60,000 5,000 55,000 60,000
 James Finn 5,000 35,000 40,000 5,000 35,000 40,000
 David Horgan  5,000 35,000 40,000 5,000 35,000 40,000
 Manouchehr Takin 5,000 15,000 20,000 5,000 15,000 20,000
 Jack Teeling 5,000 15,000 20,000 5,000 15,000 20,000
                                                                                                                         
  25,000 155,000 180,000 25,000 155,000 180,000
                                                                                                                         

 The number of directors to whom retirement benefi ts are accruing is £Nil (2009: £ Nil) and all remuneration related to short 
 term employment benefi ts.

 Director’s Remuneration at year end is included within trade and other payables as this was not paid at year end.
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8. RELATED PARTY AND OTHER TRANSACTIONS (continued)

 • Loan from Directors

  Included in trade and other payables at year end is £180,000 due by the company to certain directors.  This loan 
  consists of £60,000 each due to James Finn, David Horgan and John Teeling.  The loan was provided to the group 
  from the directors in August 2010 for the purchase of Hydrocarbon Exploration plc shares and is not secured. The 
  investment in Hydrocarbon Exploration plc is represented in the balance sheet.  The loan from directors was repaid in 
  the form of shares following the acquisition of Hydrocarbon Exploration plc and the placing, on 6 April 2011 of 
  41,688,171 new Ordinary shares of 0.25p at 6p per share.

 • Other

  Clontarf Energy plc shares offi ces and overheads with a number of companies also based at 162 Clontarf Road. These 
  companies have some common directors.

  Transactions with these companies during the year are set out below:

  African Botswana Pan Andean Hydrocarbon Petrel Cooley 
  Diamonds  Diamonds Resources Exploration Resources Distillery
  Plc Plc Plc Plc Plc Plc Total
  £ £ £ £ £ £ £

 Balance at 1 January 2009 - - - - - (6,269) (6,269)
 
 Offi ce and overhead
 costs recharged (8,222) - (11,258) - (6,992) (10,000) (36,472)

 Repayments - - 3,250 - - - 3,250

 Balance at 31 December
 2009 (8,222) - (8,008) - (6,992) (16,269) (39,491)

 Loan - - - (66,914) - - (66,914)

 Overhead and offi ce
 costs recharged (21,631) - - (1,250) (21,935) (10,000) (54,816)

 Exploration and evaluation 
 Expenditure recharged - - - (127,301) (37,188) - (164,489)

 Repayments - - - 7,497 2,588 26,269 36,354

 Transfer on demerger 29,853 (29,853) 8,008 (8,008) - - -

 Balance at 31 December
 2010 - (29,853) - (195,976) (63,527) - (289,356)

  On 4 April 2010 certain assets of Pan Andean Resources plc were demerged to Hydrocarbon Exploration plc. The assets 
  demerged included amounts due to Pan Andean Resources plc by Clontarf Energy plc.  In June 2010 the company 
 acquired 1,425 new shares in Hydrocarbon Exploration plc. This investment is represented in the balance sheet (see 
 Note 13). On 6 April 2011 the company acquired the total remaining issued share capital of Hydrocarbon Exploration plc 
 (Note 27).

 On 20 December 2010 certain assets of African Diamonds plc were demerged to Botswana Diamonds plc. The assets 
 demerged included amounts due to African Diamonds plc by Clontarf Energy plc. 

 Clontarf Energy plc owns 30% of Pan Andean Resources Limited, an early stage exploration vehicle registered in Ghana. 
 Petrel Resources plc, Hydrocarbon Exploration plc and Abbey Oil & Gas own the remaining 70%. During 2010 exploration 
 and evaluation expenditure was paid by Hydrocarbon Exploration plc and Petrel Resources plc, in relation to the Ghanian 
 operations. This expenditure was recharged to Clontarf Energy plc during the year. 

 On 26 January 2009 the company was notifi ed that John J Teeling, a director of the company, had pledged 11,675,400 
 ordinary shares of 0.25p each in the company, representing approximately 15.64% of the company’s issued share capital, 
 as security against personal borrowings. 
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8. RELATED PARTY AND OTHER TRANSACTIONS (continued)

 Company

 At 31 December the following amount was due to the company by its subsidiaries:
     2010 2009
     £ £

 Amounts due from Talaye Zard Pars   - 235,307
                                          

 Due to the decision to cease activity in Iran, the amounts due from Talaye Zard Pars were written off to the statement of 
 comprehensive income during the year.

9. EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

 There were no employees of the group or company other than the directors during the current or prior year.

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
     2010 2009
     £ £

 Current tax   - -
                                          
 Factors affecting the tax expense:

 Loss on ordinary activities before tax   (2,225,347) (316,000)
                                          
 Income tax calculated at 30%   (667,604) (94,800)

 Effects of:
 Tax losses carried forward   80,488 94,800
 Items not subject to taxation   587,117 -
                                          
 Tax charge   - -
                                          
 No charge to corporation tax arises in the current year or the prior year due to losses incurred.  

 At the balance sheet date, the group had unused tax losses of £1,598,514 (2009: £1,330,223) which equates to a 
 deferred tax asset of £479,554 (2009: £399,067).  No deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the unpredictability 
 of the future profi t streams. 

11. LOSS PER SHARE

 Basic loss per share is computed by dividing the loss after taxation for the year available to ordinary shareholders by the 
 weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue and ranking for dividend during the year.  Diluted earnings per 
 share is computed by dividing the loss after taxation for the year by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in 
 issue, adjusted for the effect of all dilutive potential ordinary shares that were outstanding during the year.

 The following table sets out the computation for basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS):
     2010 2009
     £ £
 Numerator
 For basic and diluted EPS retained loss   (2,225,347) (316,000)
                                          
 Denominator
 For basic and diluted EPS   74,947,595 74,662,198
                                          
 Basic EPS   (2.96p) (0.42p)
 Diluted EPS   (2.96p) (0.42p)
                                          

 Basic and diluted loss per share is the same as the effect of the outstanding share options is anti-dilutive and is therefore 
 excluded.
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12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS  
  2010 2009 2010 2009
  Group Group Company Company
  £ £ £ £

 Exploration and evaluation assets:

 Cost:
 At 1 January   1,910,073 1,831,551 1,595,933 1,571,935
 Additions during the year 195,273 78,522 171,804 23,998
                                             
                                       
 At 31 December  2,105,346 1,910,073 1,767,737 1,595,933
                                           
                                       

 Impairment:
 At 1 January - - - -
 Provision for impairment 1,934,807 - 1,597,198 -
                                             
                                       
 At 31 December  1,934,807 - 1,597,198 -
                                           
                                       

 Carrying Value:
 At 1 January  1,910,073 1,831,551 1,595,933 1,571,935
                                                                                 
 At 31 December  170,539 1,910,073 170,539 1,595,933
                                                                                  

 Segmental analysis – group 2010 2009 2010 2009
  £ £ £ £

  Group Group Company Company
 Bolivia 6,050 - 6,050 -
 Ghana 164,489 - 164,489 -
 Iran - 1,910,073 - 1,595,933
 
  170,539 1,910,073 170,539 1,595,933

 Exploration and evaluation assets relates to expenditure incurred in prospecting and exploration for gold and oil in 
 Iran, Ghana and Bolivia. The directors are aware that by its nature there is an inherent uncertainty in such development 
 expenditure as to the value of the asset.   In relation to the Iranian operations, discovery certifi cates were applied for 
 in 2008 in respect of both the Chah-e-zard project and the Dalli project, neither of which have been received. As there 
 is no guarantee that a discovery certifi cate and development licence will be issued in respect of either project in Iran, the 
 Directors have decided to provide in full against the carrying value of the Iranian assets. Accordingly an impairment 
 provision of £1,934,807 has been recorded by the group in the current period (company: £1,597,198)

 The realisation of the intangible assets is dependent on the discovery and successful development of economic mineral 
 reserves which is affected by the risks outlined in Note 1(xii).  Should this prove unsuccessful the value included in the 
 balance sheet would be written off to the statement of comprehensive income.
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13. INVESTMENTS 
     2010 2009
     £ £
 Cost:
 Opening balance   - -
 Additions   177,699 -
                                          
 Closing balance   177,699 -
                                          

 The company purchased 1,425 new ordinary shares in Hydrocarbon Exploration plc, a UK company, in June 2010. On 6 
 April 2011 the company acquired all of the remaining issued share capital of Hydrocarbon Exploration Plc, on the basis 
 of 2,800 Clontarf Energy Plc shares for every one Hydrocarbon Exploration Plc share. Following the acquisition 
 admission to trading of the existing ordinary shares of Clontarf Energy Plc was cancelled and the shares of the new 
 enlarged group were admitted to trading.

14. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

 The subsidiaries of the company at 31 December 2010 are:

    Country of % Nature of
   Total allotted Capital Incorporation Ownership Business

 Persian Gold Limited 100 Ordinary Shares  Republic of  100 Dormant
   of €1 Ireland
 Persian Gold Kish Co 100 Ordinary Shares of
   Rls 10,000 Iran 100 Dormant
 Talaye Zard Pars 100 Ordinary Shares of    Prospecting and
   Rls10,000 Iran 100 exploration for gold
 Talaye Pars Yard 100 Ordinary Shares of    Prospecting and
   Rls10,000 Iran   100 exploration for gold

 The company holds a 30% interest in a Ghanaian private company, Pan Andean Resources Limited, which is an early 
 stage exploration vehicle in Africa.

 In the opinion of the directors, at 31 December 2010, the value of the investments are not less than their balance sheet 
 value.

15. OTHER RECEIVABLES
   2010 2009 2010 2009
   £ £ £ £
   Group Group Company Company

 Current assets
 Prepayments 3,472 2,986 3,472 2,986
 Other receivables 1,067 1,067 1,000 1,000

 Non-current assets:
 Due by group undertakings (Note 8) - - - 235,307
                                                                                   
   4,539 4,053 4,472 239,293
                                                                                  
 
 Other receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally repayable within 90 days.

 The carrying value of the other receivables approximates to their fair value.
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16. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
  2010 2009 2010 2009
  Group Group Company Company
  £ £ £ £

 Cash and cash equivalents 54,548 23,714 54,548 18,984
                                           
                                       
 Cash at bank earns interest at fl oating rates based on daily bank deposits rates.

17. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
  2010 2009 2010 2009
  Group Group Company Company
  £ £ £ £

 Trade payables and other accruals 536,276 346,735 536,276 263,172
 Other payables 534,357 39,491 534,357 39,491
                                             
                                      
  1,070,633 386,226 1,070,633 302,663
                                             
                                      

 It is the group’s normal practice to agree terms of transactions, including payment terms, with suppliers and provided 
 suppliers perform in accordance with the agreed terms, it is the group’s policy that payment is made between 30 – 45 
 days.

 Included in trade payables and other accruals at the year end is £180,000 due by the company to certain directors.  See 
 Note 8 for details.

 The carrying value of trade and other payables approximates to their fair value.

18. PROVISION
  2010 2009 2010 2009
  Group Group Company Company
  £ £ £ £

 Opening Balance 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000

 Released to Statement of 
 Comprehensive Income (10,000) - (10,000) -
                                             
                                      
 Closing Balance - 10,000 - 10,000
                                           

 The provision in 2009 related to a provision for restoration costs for the project in Iran. As there is no guarantee that a 
 discovery certifi cate will be issued in respect of this project an impairment provision has been recognised in the current 
 year (see note 12). Due to this uncertainity the restoration provision was released in the current year.
                                       
19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

 The Group and Company undertake certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies. Hence, exposures to 
 exchange rate fl uctuations arise.

 The Group and Company hold cash as a liquid resource to fund the obligations of the Group. The Group’s cash balances 
 are held in euro and sterling.  The Group and Company strategy for managing cash is to maximise interest income whilst 
 ensuring its availability to match the profi le of the Group and Company expenditure. This is achieved by monthly reviews 
 of expenditure.
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19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

 The Group and Company has a policy of not hedging due to no signifi cant dealings in currencies other than the 
 reporting currency and euro denominated transactions and therefore takes market rates in respect of foreign exchange 
 risk; however, it does review its currency exposures on an ad hoc basis. To date, the Group and Company has relied 
 upon equity funding to fi nance operations. The Directors are confi dent that adequate cash resources exist to fi nance 
 operations for future exploitation but controls over expenditure are carefully managed.

 The carrying amounts of the Group and Company foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities  
 at the reporting dates are as follows:

 Group
   Assets Liabilities
   2010 2009 2010 2009
   £ £ £ £

 Euro 6,406 4,176 152,340 107,249
                                                                                 

 Company
   Assets Liabilities
   2010 2009 2010 2009
   £ £ £ £

 Euro 6,406 4,176 59,316 23,809
                                                                                 

20. CALLED-UP SHARE CAPITAL 
     2010 2009
     £ £
 Group and Company

 Authorised: 
 800,000,000 Ordinary shares of 0.25p each    2,000,000 2,000,000
                                          

 Allotted, called-up and fully paid:
   Number Share Capital Share Premium
    £ £
 At 1 January 2009 and
 31 December 2009 74,662,198 186,656 2,654,764
 Issued during the year 510,637 1,276 19,149
                                                              
 At 31 December 2010 75,172,835 187,932 2,673,913
                                                              

 Movements in issued share capital
 On 10 June 2010, 510,637 warrants were exercised at a price of 4p per share to provide additional working capital and 
 fund development costs.

 Share options
 A total of 9,370,000 share options were in issue at 31 December 2010 (2009: 9,370,000). These options are exercisable, 
 at prices ranging between 1p and 25p up to seven years from the date of granting of the options unless otherwise 
 determined by the board.

21. MATERIAL NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

 There were no material non-cash transactions during the year other than those outlined in Note 12.
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22. RISK MANAGEMENT
 The group’s fi nancial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalent balances, receivables and trade payables.  The 
 main purpose of these fi nancial instruments is to raise fi nance to fund exploration activities.

 The group does not enter into any derivative transactions, and it is the group’s policy that no trading in fi nancial 
 instruments is undertaken.

 The main fi nancial risk arising from the group’s fi nancial instruments is currency risk. The board reviews and agrees 
 policies for managing this risk and they are summarised below.

 Interest rate risk profi le of fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities
 The group has no outstanding bank borrowings and has no interest rate exposure, as the group fi nances its operations 
 primarily through equity fi nance.

 Liquidity risk
 As regards liquidity, the group’s policy is to ensure continuity of funding primarily through fresh issues of shares.  Short-
 term funding is achieved through utilising and optimising the management of working capital.  The directors are confi dent  
 that adequate cash resources exist to fi nance operations in the short term, including exploration and development.

 Foreign currency risk
 The group has no signifi cant dealings in currencies other than the reporting currency and euro denominated currencies.

 Capital Management
 The primary objective of the group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a healthy capital ratio in order to 
 support its business and maximise shareholder value. The capital structure of the group consists of issued share capital 
 and reserves.

 The group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions.  No 
 changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 31 December 2010 and 31 
 December 2009. The group’s only capital requirement is its authorised minimum capital as a plc.

 Credit risk
 With respect to credit risk arising from fi nancial assets of the group, which comprise of cash and cash equivalents, the
 group’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of counter party, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying 
 amount of these instruments. The credit risk of the group is considered minimal. 

23. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

 Share options
 The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain directors and individuals who have performed services 
 for the Group. Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair value at the date of grant. Fair value is 
 measured by the use of a Black-Scholes model.

 A total number of 9,370,000 share options were in issue at 31 December 2010 (2009: 9,370,000).   These options are 
 exercisable, at prices ranging between 1p and 25p up to seven years from the date of granting of the options unless 
 otherwise determined by the board.

 The Group plan provides for a grant price equal to the average quoted market price of the ordinary shares on the date of 
 grant. The options vest immediately.
   2010 2010 2009 2009
   Options Weighted Options Weighted
    average  average
    exercise price  exercise price
    in pence  in pence

 Outstanding at beginning of year 1,540,000 16.9 1,540,000 16.9
 Granted during the year - - - -

 Outstanding and exercisable 
 at the end of the year 1,540,000 16.9 1,540,000 16.9

 At 31 December 2010, there were 7,830,000 options in existence which were not accounted for under IFRS 2 as the 
 grant date was prior to 1 January 2006.
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23. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
 The options outstanding at 31 December 2010 had a weighted average exercise price of 16.9p (2009: 16.9p), and a 
 weighted average remaining contractual life of 5.18 years (2009: 6.18 years).

 Warrants 2010 2010 2009 2009
   Warrants Weighted Warrants Weighted
    average  average
    exercise price  exercise price
    in pence  in pence

 Outstanding at beginning of year 5,625,000 4 5,625,000 4
 Exercised during the year (510,637) 4 - -

 Outstanding and exercisable 
 at the end of the year 5,114,363 4 5,625,000 4

 During 2010, 510,637 warrants were exercised with a fair value of £7,339.

24. COMMITMENTS

 There is no capital expenditure authorised or contracted for which is not provided for in these accounts (2009: £Nil).

25. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

 There are no contingent liabilities (2009: £Nil).

26. PARENT COMPANY INCOME STATEMENT

 As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act, 2006 the Parent Company’s Income Statement has not been 
 presented in this document.  The loss after taxation as determined in accordance with IFRS for the parent company for
 the year is £2,225,347 (2009: £316,000).

27. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

 On 14 January 2011, the Board of Persian Gold Plc announced that it had received notices of exercise from a number
 of individual holders of warrants over new ordinary shares of the company at an exercise price of 4p per new ordinary 
 share. Accordingly, the board resolved to issue and allot 2,455,000 new ordinary shares at a nominal value of 0.25p per 
 new ordinary share at a price of 4p each. The Company has received £98,200 from the holders of such warrants after the 
 year end.

 On 23 March 2011 the company changed its name to Clontarf Energy plc.  On 6 April 2011 the company acquired the 
 total issued share capital of Hydrocarbon Exploration plc (“HyEx”), a UK company, on the basis of 2,800 Clontarf Energy 
 plc shares for every one HyEx share for £4.56m in an all-share deal. Following the acquisition admission to trading of 
 the existing ordinary shares of Clontarf Energy plc was cancelled and the shares of the new enlarged group were 
 admitted to trading.
 
 This acquisition represents an opportunity to acquire a diversifi ed portfolio of exploration and production assets which 
 have the potential to generate value for shareholders in the future.
 
 The Company placed 41,688,171 Placing Shares at a price of 6p per share with investors to raise £2.5million before 
 expenses on 6 April 2011.  In addition, the Company has received subscriptions for 3,775,500 Subscription Shares at 6p 
 per share, raising approximately £225,000.

 On 6 April 2011 directors and senior management exercised 2,659,363 warrants and 5,400,000 options as detailed in the 
 Scheme of Arrangement.

 On 6 April 2011, following the completion of documentation and the subsequent raising of fi nance the suspension of AIM 
 was lifted and the company announced its re-admission to the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange and the 
 fi rst day of its dealings in its ordinary shares.

 On 28 April 2011 two former consultants to the company exercised options resulting in the issue of 1,400,000 new 
 ordinary shares of 0.25p each.
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Notice is hereby given that an Annual General Meeting of Clontarf Energy plc (the “Company”) will be held on 27 
July 2011 at 11 am at the City of London Club, 19 Old Broad Street, London EC2N 1DS for the following purposes:

ORDINARY BUSINESS
1.  To receive and consider the Directors’ Report, Audited Accounts and Auditors’ Report for the year ended 
     December 31, 2010.

2.  To re-elect Director: John Teeling retires in accordance with Article 25 and seeks re-election.

3.  To re-elect Director: Jack Teeling retires in accordance with Article 25 and seeks re-election.

4.  To re-elect Director: David Horgan retires in accordance with Article 25 and seeks re-election.

5.  To re-elect Deloitte & Touche as auditors and to authorise the Directors to fi x their remuneration.

6.  To transact any other ordinary business of an Annual General Meeting.

SPECIAL BUSINESS
ORDINARY RESOLUTION
7. That, in accordance with section 551 of the Companies Act 2006 (“2006 Act”), the Directors be and are 
 generally and unconditionally authorised to exercise all powers of  the Company to allot shares in the 
 Company or grant rights to subscribe for or to convert any security into shares in the Company (“Rights”) up to 
 an aggregate nominal amount of £500,000 provided that this authority shall, unless renewed, varied or revokedby 
 the Company, expire on a date no longer than fi ve years from the date the resolution is passed save that the 
 Company may, before such expiry, make an offer or agreement which would or might require shares to be 
 allotted or Rights to be granted and the Directors may allot shares or grant Rights in pursuance of such offer or 
 agreement notwithstanding that the authority conferred by this resolution has expired.

 This authority is in substitution for all previous authorities conferred on the Directors in accordance with 
 section 80 of the Companies Act 1985 or section 551 of the 2006 Act.

SPECIAL RESOLUTION
8. “THAT, subject to the passing of resolution 7 and in accordance with sections 570 and 573 of the 2006 Act, 
 the Directors be and are generally empowered to allot equity securities (as defi ned in section 560 of the   (“2006 
 Act”) for cash pursuant to the authority conferred by resolution 7, as if section 561(1) of the 2006 Act did not 
 apply to any such allotment, provided that this power shall:

8.1 Be limited to the allotment of equity securities up to an aggregate nominal amount of £500,000; and

8.2 Expire on a date no longer than fi ve years from the date the resolution is passed (unless renewed, varied or 
 revoked by the Company prior to or on that date) save that the Company may, before such  expiry make 
 an offer or agreement which would or might require equity securities to be allotted after such expiry and the 
 Directors may allot equity securities in pursuance of any such offer or agreement notwithstanding that the 
 power conferred by this resolution has expired.

By order of the Board.

James Finn
Secretary

Registered Offi ce: 20-22 Bedford Row, London WCIR 4JS

28 June 2011

Note 1.  A member who is unable to attend and vote at the above Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend, 
  speak and vote in his stead. A proxy need not be a member of the company.
       
        2. To be effective, the Form of Proxy duly signed, together with the power of attorney (if any) under which it is signed, must 
  be depositied at the Company’s Registrars, Computershare Investor Services (Ireland) Ltd., Heron House, Corrig Road, 
  Sandyford Industrial Estate, Dublin 18, not less than fortyeight hours before the time appointed for the Meeting or any 
  adjournment thereof at which the person named in the Form of Proxy is to vote.

Notice of Annual General Meeting
Clontarf Energy Plc. 

(Incorporated and registered in England and Wales with registered number 04967918)
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I/We ..........................................................................................................................................................................
(BLOCK LETTERS)

of ..............................................................................................................................................................................
being (an) ordinary shareholder(s) of Clontarf Energy plc, hereby appoint the Chairman of the Meeting #

..................................................................................................................................................................................

of ..............................................................................................................................................................................
as my / our proxy to vote for me / us and on my / our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be 
held on 27 July 2011 at 11 am at the City of London Club, 19 Old Broad Street, London EC2N 1DS and at any 
adjournment thereof.

I/We direct that my / our vote(s) be cast on the specifi ed Resolution as indicated by an “X” in the appropriate box.

ORDINARY BUSINESS FOR*  AGAINST*

1. To receive and consider the Directors’ Report and audited fi nancial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2010

2. To re-elect Director: John Teeling 

3.  To re-elect Director: Jack Teeling

4.  To re-elect Director: David Horgan

5.  To re-elect Deloitte & Touche as auditors and to authorise the Directors to 
 fi x their remuneration.

6.  To transact any other ordinary business of an Annual General Meeting.

SPECIAL BUSINESS
ORDINARY RESOLUTION

7. Authority to permit Directors to allot shares

SPECIAL RESOLUTION

8. Authority to disapply the statutory pre-emption rights

Dated this ................................................................................ day of ..............................................................2011

Signature ...................................................................................................................................................................

# Unless otherwise directed, and in respect of any other business resolution properly moved at the Meeting, the proxy will vote, or 
may abstain from voting, as he/she thinks fi t. If it is desired to appoint another person as a proxy, these words should be deleted 
and the name and the address of the proxy, who need not be a member of the Company, inserted.

* The manner in which the proxy is to vote should be indicated by inserting an “X” in the boxes provided. Proxies not marked as for 
or against will be regarded as giving the proxy authority to vote, or to abstain at his/her discretion.

NOTES:

1.  To be effective, the Form of Proxy duly signed, together with the power of attorney (if any) under which it is signed, must be 
 deposited at the Company’s Registrars, Computershare Services (Ireland) Ltd., Heron House, Corrig Road, Sandyford 
 Industrial Estate, Dublin 18, not less than forty-eight hours before the time appointed for the Meeting or any adjournment 
 thereof, at which the person named in the Form is to vote.

2.  If the Form of Proxy is given to a body corporate, it must be given under its Common Seal or under the hand of the attorney or 
 offi cer duly authorised.

3.  A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

4.  In the case of joint holders the vote of the senior who tenders a vote, whether in person or by proxy, shall be accepted to the 
 exclusion of the other registered holders and for this purpose seniority shall be determined by the order in which the names 
 stand in the Register of Members in respect of such holding.

Form of Proxy
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DIRECTORS John Teeling (Chairman) 
   David Horgan (Managing) 
   James Finn (Finance) 
   Jack Teeling (Non-Executive) 
   Manouchehr Takin (Non-Executive) 

SECRETARY James Finn

REGISTERED OFFICE 20-22 Bedford Row
   London, WCIR 4JS
   United Kingdom
   Telephone +44117 9230600

DUBLIN OFFICE 162 Clontarf Road
   Dublin 3
   Ireland
   Telephone: +353 1 8332833
   Facsimile:   +353 1 8333505

REGISTERED AUDITORS Deloitte & Touche
   Deloitte & Touche House
   Earlsfort Terrace
   Dublin 2

COMPANY REGISTRATION NUMBER 04967918

SOLICITORS McEvoy Partners
   Connaught House
   Burlington Road
   Dublin 4
   Ireland

BANKERS Allied Irish Bank plc
   87 North Strand Road
   Dublin 3
   Ireland

   Bank of Ireland
   20 Berkley Square 
   London, WIJ 6LL
   United Kingdom

NOMINATED ADVISER AND JOINT BROKER Shore Capital & Corporate Limited
   Bond Street House
                                                                                       14 Clifford Street
   London, W1S 4JU
   United Kingdom
JOINT BROKER  Optiva Securities Limited
   2 Mill Street
   London, W1S 2AT
   United Kingdom

REGISTRARS Computer Share Services (Ireland) Limited
   Heron House
   Corrig Road
   Sandyford Industrial Estate
   Dublin 18
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